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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

CASE NO. 18-CIV-62372-RAR 

 

BERKELEY VACATION  

RESORTS, INC., et al., 

 

 Plaintiffs, 

v. 

 

MITCHELL REED SUSSMAN, 

 

 Defendant. 

_____________________________________/ 

 

ORDER ON DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS  

 

 THIS CAUSE came before the Court on Defendant Mitchell Reed Sussman’s Motion to 

Dismiss Complaint [ECF No. 23] (“Motion”).  The Court heard oral argument on the Motion on 

October 17, 2019 [ECF No. 88] (“Hearing”).  For the reasons stated on the record, and being 

otherwise fully advised, it is hereby 

 ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Motion [ECF No. 23] is GRANTED only as to 

Count VII1 and DENIED in all other respects. 

BACKGROUND 

Plaintiffs are in the business of developing, financing, managing, and selling timeshare 

resort properties throughout the United States, including in Florida. See Compl. at ¶¶ 25-28.  

Plaintiffs have valid and enforceable contracts with their customers requiring payment for 

mortgages, maintenance fees, and property taxes.  Id. at ¶¶ 26-27.  Defendant is an individual 

doing business as Mitchell Reed Sussman & Associates and offers timeshare cancellation services 

                                                           
1 Plaintiffs concede that Defendant’s argument as to Count VII “is well-taken” and agree that “Count VII 

should be dismissed.” Resp. at 9 n. 7. 
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to timeshare owners.  Id. at ¶ 17.  Through his website and other marketing and solicitation efforts, 

Defendant purports to provide a “100% money-back guarantee” to relieve owners of their 

timeshare obligations.  Id. at ¶¶ 38-44.   

According to Plaintiffs, Defendant solicits timeshare owners through “false and 

misleading” advertising, inducing them to pay large, upfront fees to Defendant instead of making 

contractual payments to Plaintiffs.  Id. at ¶¶ 29-44, 77.  Plaintiffs suggest that Defendant carries 

out the alleged scheme by sending form letters to represent the owners’ interest in cancelling their 

timeshare contracts, without any investigation.  Id. at ¶¶ 45-46.  The letters offer a deed of the 

timeshare in return and instruct Plaintiffs to cease communicating with Defendant’s clients.  Id. 

at ¶ 45.  The letters further state that Defendant’s clients “will no longer be making any payments” 

and wish to terminate their timeshare contracts without reference to any legitimate legal or factual 

basis. Id.  Plaintiffs also allege that Defendant records fraudulent deeds purporting to convey the 

owners’ timeshare interests back to Plaintiffs or to an individual serving as a strawman.  Id. at ¶¶ 

50-62.  These deeds fail to actually convey any interest, as Plaintiffs never requested or approved 

the transfers of ownership, leaving the timeshare owners responsible for their obligations to 

Plaintiffs.  Id. at ¶¶ 53-58. 

The Complaint sets forth nine counts against Defendant arising out of the conduct 

described above: Counts I and II seek relief for tortious interference with contracts and business 

relationships; Counts III and IV bring claims under the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade 

Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) and the Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act (“NDTPA”), 

respectively; Count V seeks a declaration that Defendant’s unilateral recording of deeds have no 

effect; Count VI alleges a violation of Fla. Stat. § 817.535; Count VII alleges a violation of NRS 

§ 225.804; Count VIII alleges a violation of Fla. Stat. § 721.17; and Count IX seeks relief for 

false advertising and unfair competition pursuant to the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).   

Case 0:18-cv-62372-RAR   Document 89   Entered on FLSD Docket 10/20/2019   Page 2 of 10



Page 3 of 10 

 

Defendant moved to dismiss the Complaint with prejudice, maintaining the claims are 

barred by the Noerr-Pennington doctrine and the litigation privilege and, alternatively, that none 

of the Plaintiffs’ nine counts properly state a claim.  These arguments were addressed at the 

Hearing and will be addressed in turn. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

When reviewing a motion to dismiss, a court must view the complaint in the light most 

favorable to the plaintiff and accept the plaintiff’s well-pleaded facts as true.  Hunt v. Aimco 

Properties, L.P., 814 F.3d 1213, 1221 (11th Cir. 2016).  However, a court need not accept 

plaintiff’s legal conclusions as true.  Sinaltrainal v. Coca–Cola Co., 578 F.3d 1252, 1261 (11th 

Cir. 2009); see also Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).  Therefore, “[t]o survive a motion 

to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to 

relief that is plausible on its face.’”  Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (emphasis added) (quoting Bell Atlantic 

Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).  A pleading is facially plausible when the plaintiff 

states enough facts for the court to draw a “reasonable inference” that the defendant is liable for 

the alleged conduct.  Id.  The factual allegations must provide more than a “sheer possibility.”  Id.   

Generally, “a plaintiff must be given at least one chance to amend the complaint before the 

district court dismisses the action with prejudice.’”  Bryant v. Dupree, 252 F.3d 1161, 1163 (11th 

Cir. 2001) (alteration in original) (quoting Bank v. Pitt, 928 F.2d 1108, 1112 (11th Cir. 1991)).  

However, a district court need not permit an amendment in the following three circumstances: “(1) 

where there has been undue delay, bad faith, dilatory motive, or repeated failure to cure 

deficiencies by amendments previously allowed; (2) where allowing amendment would cause 

undue prejudice to the opposing party; or (3) where amendment would be futile.”  Id. (citation 

omitted).   
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ANALYSIS 

A.  Noerr-Pennington and the Litigation Privilege 

Defendant argues that the Complaint should be dismissed pursuant to the Noerr-

Pennington doctrine.  Although originally created to address legislative lobbying, the Noerr-

Pennington doctrine resolves the tension between the First Amendment right to petition and the 

antitrust liability that would otherwise flow from petitioning the government for legislation or 

relief that restrains trade in favor of the petitioner.  See Andrx Pharm., Inc. v. Elan Corp., PLC, 

421 F.3d 1227, 1233 (11th Cir. 2005).  The Supreme Court extended the doctrine to “shield[ ] a 

defendant from antitrust liability for resorting to litigation to obtain from a court an 

anticompetitive outcome.”  Id.  The doctrine applies only to litigation and “acts reasonably 

attendant to litigation, such as demand letters.”  Silverhorse Racing, LLC v. Ford Motor Co., 232 

F. Supp. 3d 1206, 1211 (M.D. Fla. 2017); see also Matsushita Elecs. Corp. v. Loral Corp., 974 

F. Supp. 345, 359 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) (explaining the doctrine applies only to litigation and “acts 

that are reasonably and normally attendant upon protected litigation, such as sending letters 

threatening court action.”) (internal quotation omitted).  Thus, Noerr-Pennington immunity does 

not extend to demand letters that do not mention a lawsuit, let alone those that do not precede any 

litigation.  Luxpro Corp. v. Apple Inc., No. 10-03058- JSW, 2011 WL 1086027, at *6 (N.D.  Cal.  

Mar.  24, 2011).     

Here, Defendant claims that the “deeding back” of timeshare interests to the Plaintiffs 

should be shielded by Noerr-Pennington.  However, as explained on the record, the Court finds 

that Defendant’s deeding of the properties is non-litigation conduct that falls outside the ambit of 

the Noerr-Pennington doctrine.  And to the extent that Defendant argues the demand letters 

constitute “litigation activity,” the Court finds that such action is subject to the “sham” exception 
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of the doctrine.2  Consequently, the Court holds that Plaintiffs’ claims are not barred by the Noerr-

Pennington doctrine. 

Defendant argues that Plaintiffs’ claims should also be dismissed pursuant to Florida’s 

litigation privilege.  However, the litigation privilege only applies to acts in the course of judicial 

proceedings and conduct that is “necessarily preliminary” to a judicial proceeding.  See Kelly v. 

Palmer, Reifler, & Assocs., P.A., 681 F. Supp. 2d 1356, 1367-68 (S.D. Fla. 2010); Fridovich v. 

Fridovich, 598 So. 2d 65, 66 (Fla. 1992).  Importantly, the scope of the privilege does not extend 

to pre-suit demand letters unless they are communications that are “required by law” or 

contractual prerequisites.  See Trent v. Mortgage Elec. Registration Sys., Inc., 618 F. Supp. 2d 

1356, 1361 (M.D. Fla. 2007).  Defendant does not point to any statutory or contractual provision 

that required him to send demand letters as a condition precedent to filing suit.  Thus, the 

Defendant can find no refuge in the litigation privilege. 

B.  Counts I and II – Tortious Interference 

Count I states a claim for tortious interference with existing contracts.  Compl. ¶¶ 73-82. 

To sufficiently plead a claim for tortious interference with existing contracts, Plaintiffs must 

allege: “(1) [t]he existence of a contract, (2) [t]he defendant’s knowledge of the contract, (3) [t]he 

defendant’s intentional procurement of the contract’s breach, (4) [a]bsence of any justification or 

privilege, and (5) [d]amages resulting from the breach.”  Hilton Resorts Corp. v. Sussman, No. 

6:19-CV-305-ORL-40DCI, 2019 WL 2717164, at *4 (M.D. Fla. June 28, 2019) (quoting Johnson 

Enters. of Jacksonville, Inc. v. FPL Grp., 162 F.3d 1290, 1321 (11th Cir. 1998)). 

                                                           
2 “To abrogate Noerr-Pennington immunity as conduct attendant to a sham litigation, a litigant must 

establish ‘(1) the lawsuit [is] objectively baseless in the sense that no reasonable litigant could realistically 

expect success on the merits; and (2) the party bringing the allegedly baseless suit did so with a subjective 

motivation . . . to interfere directly with the business relationships of a competitor.’”  Silverhorse Racing, 

LLC v. Ford Motor Co., No: 6:16-CV-53-ORL-22KRS, 2016 WL 7137273, at *3 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 27, 2016) 

(internal citations omitted). 
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Defendant argues the Complaint does not establish that Defendant’s solicitations induced 

any breach.  Compl. at ¶ 9.  This argument fails because the Complaint alleges a litany of well-

pleaded conduct by Defendant that induced breaches of contract.  Next, Defendant argues that 

Count I should be dismissed because Defendant acted as an agent for the owners.  Compl. at ¶ 10.  

However, liability for tortious interference may be imposed on an agent “where the agent acts 

solely with ulterior purposes and the advice is not in the principal’s best interest, or where improper 

methods are employed.”  Orange Lake Country Club, Inc. v. Reed Hein & Assocs., 367 F. Supp. 

3d 1360, 1369–70 (M.D. Fla. 2019) (quoting KMS Rest. Corp. v. Wendy’s Int’l, 361 F.3d 1321, 

1327 (11th Cir. 2004)) (internal quotations omitted).  Consequently, the Motion is denied as to 

Count I. 

Count II, which seeks relief for tortious interference with advantageous business 

relationships, similarly survives.  Defendant argues that Plaintiffs’ claim for tortious interference 

with advantageous business relationships fails for two reasons: (1) because the same grounds for 

dismissal apply to this claim as to Plaintiffs’ claims for tortious interference with contracts; and 

(2) Plaintiffs have “not alleged a non-speculative business transaction that would likely have 

occurred but for Defendant’s conduct.”  Mot. at 11.  The Court finds, however, that Plaintiffs are 

not required to prove that a business relationship would have occurred “in all probability” at the 

pleading stage.  See Bray & Gillespie Mgmt. LLC v. Lexington Ins. Co., 527 F. Supp. 2d 1355, 

1368 (M.D. Fla. 2007).  Rather, the Plaintiffs need only allege the existence of such business 

relationships to survive a Motion to Dismiss.  Id.; see also Ethan Allen, Inc. v. Georgetown Manor, 

Inc., 647 So. 2d 812, 814 (Fla. 1994) (tortious interference with an advantageous business 

relationship occurs when defendant intentionally and unjustifiably interferes with a known 

business relationship, even if it is not evidenced in a formal written agreement); Monco Enters., 

Inc. v. Ziebart Corp., 673 So. 2d 491, 492 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (holding that plaintiff sufficiently 
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alleged tortious interference with a prospective business relationship).  Thus, the Motion is denied 

as to Count II. 

C.  Counts III and IV – FDUTPA and NDTPA 

Counts III and IV assert claims under FDUTPA and NDTPA, respectively.  In order to 

state a FDUTPA claim, a plaintiff must allege a deceptive act or unfair practice, causation, and (if 

damages are sought) actual damages.  See e-ventures Worldwide, LLC v. Google, Inc., 188 F. Supp. 

3d 1265, 1277 (M.D. Fla. 2016); see also Fla. Stat. § 501.211(2).  Defendant argues that none of 

the Plaintiffs located in Florida have standing to bring a FDUTPA claim because they are “non-

consumers.”  See Mot. at 14.  However, in 2001, the Florida Legislature replaced the word 

“consumer” in section 501.211(2) with the word “person,” a change that has been construed by 

state and federal courts in Florida to allow aggrieved non-consumers to seek both damages and 

injunctive relief under FDUTPA.  See, e.g., Bailey v. St. Louis, 196 So. 3d 375, 383 (Fla. 2d DCA 

2016) (“We agree that section 501.211(2) evinces a legislative directive that the remedy of 

damages is not limited to a consumer.”); Off Lease Only, Inc. v. LeJeune Auto Wholesale, Inc., 

187 So. 3d 868, 870 n.2 (Fla. 3d DCA 2016) (“[S]ection 501.211(2) no longer requires one to be 

a ‘consumer’ to maintain an action for damages under FDUTPA.”); see also Hilton, 2019 WL 

2717164, at *5 (citing Westgate Resorts, LTD. v. Sussman, No. 6:17-cv-1467-Orl-37DCI, Doc. 40 

(M.D. Fla. Jan. 11, 2018)) (finding complaint alleging similar facts against Defendant Sussman 

stated a plausible FDUTPA claim).  Thus, for these reasons, and those stated on the record, the 

Motion is denied as to Count III. 

The Complaint also adequately states a claim under the NDTPA as to two Plaintiffs located 

in Nevada—Grandview at Las Vegas Owners’ Association, Inc. and The Cliffs at Peace Canyon 

Owners Association (collectively, “Nevada Plaintiffs”).  The Hilton court analyzed an almost 

identical argument on an almost identical claim against Defendant Sussman.  The Hilton court 
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found that “[c]ontrary to Defendant’s arguments, Plaintiffs possess standing to bring [a NDTPA 

Count] because they were ‘directly harmed’ by Defendant’s allegedly deceptive business 

practices.”  Id. (citing Del Webb Cmtys., Inc. v. Partington, 652 F.3d 1145, 1152–53 (9th Cir. 

2011)).  The Court adopts this reasoning and similarly finds that the Complaint is replete with 

detailed factual allegations that satisfy Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading requirements under the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  Once again, the Motion is denied as to Count IV. 

D.  Count V – Declaratory Judgment 

As to Count V, Plaintiffs seek a declaration from the Court that the deeds prepared by 

Defendant 1) do not lawfully transfer title of the timeshares from the owners to the Plaintiffs and 

2) do not relieve the owners from their contractual obligations to Plaintiffs.  Compl. at ¶ 150.  

Defendant argues that Count V should be dismissed for failing to join indispensable parties, 

namely the owners of the timeshares that were engaged by Defendant.  Mot. at 18-19.   

However, Defendant has failed to meet his burden of demonstrating the existence of an 

indispensable party and the grounds requiring dismissal under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

19(b).  See Molinos Valle Del Cibao, C. por A. v. Lama, 633 F.3d 1330, 1347 (11th Cir. 2011).  

Indeed, Defendant would have to show that (1) the court cannot accord complete relief among the 

existing parties; (2) prejudice would result to the absent party’s ability to protect itself in the instant 

action; or (3) the nonparty’s absence would create a substantial risk that the existing parties would 

incur inconsistent or duplicative obligations.  Compania Chilena De Navegacion Interoceanica, 

S.A. v. D.H.C. Trucking, Inc., No. 15-22494-CIV-DPG, 2016 WL 1722425, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 

29, 2016).  As Plaintiffs note, Defendant never articulates who specifically needs to be added in 

order to accord complete relief to the parties, nor does Defendant explain how the unidentified 

parties are indispensable to this action.  Again, for the reasons stated on the record and those herein, 

the Motion is denied as to Count V. 
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E.  Count VI – Violation of Fla. Stat. § 817.535 

The Court once again turns to Hilton to analyze an almost identical argument raised by 

Defendant Sussman to dismiss an almost identical claim.  Count VI is brought on behalf of the 

Florida-based Plaintiffs for violation of section 817.535 of the Florida Statutes.  Compl. ¶¶ 151-

161.  Plaintiffs cite section 817.535(2)(a), which makes it illegal for any “person who files or 

directs a filer to file, with the intent to defraud or harass another, any instrument containing a 

materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation that purports to affect an 

owner’s interest in the property described in the instrument . . . .”  Here, as in Hilton, Defendant’s 

argument fails as Defendant is squarely subject to liability under the statute as “[a] person who 

files or directs a filer to file” a fraudulent deed.  Fla. Stat. § 817.535(2)(a).  Both the terms “file” 

and “filer” include a person who “cause[s] an instrument to be presented for recording,” which is 

alleged against Defendant.  See Fla. Stat. § 817.535(1)(a) & (b); Compl. at ¶¶ 154-157.  

Consequently, the Motion is denied as to Count VI.  

F.  Count VIII – Violation of Fla. Stat. § 721.17 

Count VIII seeks relief under section 721.17 of the Florida Statutes (“Timeshare Reseller 

Law”).  Defendant’s primary argument as to why this count should be dismissed is that Plaintiffs 

lack standing to bring such a claim.  The Court disagrees based on a plain reading of the statute.  

As Plaintiffs point out, “the Florida Associations are the managing entities of [Plaintiffs’] 

timeshare resorts in Florida, (Compl. at ¶ 170), and Fla. Stat. § 721.17(g) states ‘[a] managing 

entity may bring an action to enforce the provisions of paragraph (e).’”  Resp. at 22-23.  

Consequently, the Motion is denied as to Count VIII. 

G.  Count IX – Lanham Act 

Finally, Count IX of the Complaint seeks relief for false advertising and unfair competition 

under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  Defendants sole argument as to why this claim should 
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be dismissed is that the false advertising identified in the Complaint does not plausibly allege 

proximate causation because it could not have affected a “purchasing decision.”  See Mot. at 23-

24.  However, Defendant’s argument is premised, once again, on a misreading of the text.  As 

Plaintiffs note, the Lanham Act applies to any person who is “damaged” by a violation.  15 U.S.C. 

§ 1125(a)(1)(B).  The Supreme Court has clarified that “to come within the zone of interests in a 

suit for false advertising under § 1125(a), a plaintiff must allege an injury to a commercial interest 

in reputation or sales.”  Lexmark Int’l, Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc., 572 U.S. 118, 131-

32, 133 (2014).  Thus, “a plaintiff suing under § 1125(a) ordinarily must show economic or 

reputational injury flowing directly from the deception wrought by the defendant’s advertising; 

and that that occurs when deception of consumers causes them to withhold trade from the 

plaintiff.”  Id. at 133.  The Complaint more than adequately shows economic injury flowing 

directly from Defendant’s alleged deception.  Thus, the Motion is denied as to Count IX. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, it is hereby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED as follows: 

1.  Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss [ECF No. 23] is GRANTED only as to Count VII 

and DENIED in all other respects.   

2. Defendant shall file an Answer to the Complaint by October 28, 2019.  Failure to do so 

will result in sanctions including, but not limited to, the entry of default. 

DONE AND ORDERED in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, this 20th day of October, 2019. 

 

 

   

            ______________________________ 

            RODOLFO RUIZ 

            UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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